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does not make a determination regard-

ing review within 30 calendar days, the 

decision of the hearing officer is final. 

(d) Review by the Administrator. If the 

Administrator elects to review the 

hearing decision regarding a contract 

determination, the Administrator shall 

review the hearing officer’s decision 

and determine, based upon this deci-

sion, the hearing record, and any writ-

ten arguments submitted by the MA 

organization or CMS, whether the de-

termination should be upheld, reversed, 

or modified. 

(e) Decision by the Administrator. The 

Administrator issues a written deci-

sion, and furnishes the decision to the 

MA organization requesting review. 

[63 FR 35113, June 26, 1998, as amended at 72 

FR 68725, Dec. 5, 2007; 75 FR 19813, Apr. 15, 

2010] 

§ 422.694 Effect of Administrator’s de-
cision. 

A decision by the Administrator 

under section 422.692 is final and bind-

ing unless it is reopened and revised in 

accordance with § 422.696. 

§ 422.696 Reopening of a contract de-
termination or decision of a hear-
ing officer or the Administrator. 

(a) Contract determination. CMS may 

reopen and revise an initial determina-

tion upon its own motion. 

(b) Decision of hearing officer. A deci-

sion of a hearing officer that is unfa-

vorable to any party and is otherwise 

final may be reopened and revised by 

the hearing officer upon the officer’s 

own motion within one year of the no-

tice of the hearing decision. Another 

hearing officer designated by CMS may 

reopen and revise the decision if the 

hearing officer who issued the decision 

is unavailable. 

(c) Decision of Administrator. A deci-

sion by the Administrator that is oth-

erwise final may be reopened and re-

vised by the Administrator upon the 

Administrator’s own motion within 

one year of the notice of the Adminis-

trator’s decision. 

(d) Notices. (1) The notice of reopen-

ing and of any revisions following the 

reopening is mailed to the parties. 

(2) The notice of revision specifies 
the reasons for revisions. 

[63 FR 35113, June 26, 1998, as amended at 72 
FR 68725, Dec. 5, 2007; 75 FR 19814, Apr. 15, 
2010] 

Subpart O—Intermediate 
Sanctions 

SOURCE: 63 FR 35115, June 26, 1998, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 422.750 Types of intermediate sanc-
tions and civil money penalties. 

(a) The following intermediate sanc-
tions may be imposed and will continue 
in effect until CMS is satisfied that the 
deficiencies that are the basis for the 
sanction determination have been cor-
rected and are not likely to recur: 

(1) Suspension of the MA organiza-
tion’s enrollment of Medicare bene-
ficiaries. 

(2) Suspension of payment to the MA 
organization for Medicare beneficiaries 
enrolled after the date CMS notifies 
the organization of the intermediate 
sanction. 

(3) Suspension of communication ac-
tivities to Medicare beneficiaries by an 
MA organization, as defined by CMS. 

(b) CMS may impose civil money pen-
alties as specified in 422.760. 

[72 FR 68725, Dec. 5, 2007, as amended at 75 
FR 19814, Apr. 15, 2010; 83 FR 16734, Apr. 16, 
2018] 

§ 422.752 Basis for imposing inter-
mediate sanctions and civil money 
penalties. 

(a) All intermediate sanctions. For the 
violations listed in this paragraph, 
CMS may impose one or more of the 
sanctions specified in § 422.750(a) of this 
subpart on any MA organization with a 
contract. The MA organization may 
also be subject to other remedies au-
thorized under law. 

(1) Fails substantially to provide 
medically necessary items and services 
that are required (under law or under 
the contract) to be provided to an indi-
vidual covered under the contract, if 
the failure has adversely affected (or 
has the substantial likelihood of ad-
versely affecting) the individual. 

(2) Imposes on MA enrollees pre-
miums in excess of the monthly basic 
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and supplemental beneficiary pre-
miums permitted under section 1854 of 
the Act and subpart F of this part. 

(3) Acts to expel or refuses to re-en-
roll a beneficiary in violation of the 
provisions of this part. 

(4) Engages in any practice that 
would reasonably be expected to have 
the effect of denying or discouraging 
enrollment (except as permitted by 
this part) by eligible individuals with 
the organization whose medical condi-
tion or history indicates a need for sub-
stantial future medical services. 

(5) Misrepresents or falsifies informa-
tion that it furnishes— 

(i) To CMS; or 

(ii) To an individual or to any other 
entity. 

(6) Fails to comply with the require-
ments of § 422.206, which prohibits in-
terference with practitioners’ advice to 
enrollees. 

(7) Fails to comply with § 422.216, 
which requires the organization to en-
force the limit on balance billing under 
a private fee-for service plan. 

(8) Employs or contracts with an in-
dividual or entity who is excluded from 
participation in Medicare under sec-
tion 1128 or 1128A of the Act (or with an 
entity that employs or contracts with 
such an excluded individual or entity) 
for the provision of any of the fol-
lowing: 

(i) Health care. 

(ii) Utilization review. 

(iii) Medical social work. 

(iv) Administrative services. 

(9) Except as provided under § 423.34 
of this chapter, enrolls an individual in 
any plan under this part without the 
prior consent of the individual or the 
designee of the individual. 

(10) Transfers an individual enrolled 
under this part from one plan to an-
other without the prior consent of the 
individual or the designee of the indi-
vidual or solely for the purpose of earn-
ing a commission. 

(11) Fails to comply with commu-
nication restrictions described in sub-
part V of this part or applicable imple-
menting guidance. 

(12) Employs or contracts with any 
individual, agent, provider, supplier or 
entity who engages in the conduct de-

scribed in paragraphs (a)(1) through 

(11) of this section. 

(13) Fails to comply with §§ 422.222 

and 422.224, that requires the MA orga-

nization not to make payment to ex-

cluded individuals and entities, nor to 

individuals and entities on the pre-

clusion list, defined in § 422.2. 

(b) Suspension of enrollment and com-

munications. If CMS makes a deter-

mination that could lead to a contract 

termination under § 422.510(a), CMS 

may impose the intermediate sanctions 

at § 422.750(a)(1) and (3). 

(c) Civil Money Penalties. (1) CMS. In 

addition to, or in place of, any inter-

mediate sanctions, CMS may impose 

civil money penalties in the amounts 

specified in the following: 

(i) Section 422.760(b) for any of the 

determinations at § 422.510(a), except 

§ 422.510(a)(4)(i). 

(ii) Section 422.760(c) for any of the 

determinations at § 422.752(a) except 

§ 422.752(a)(5). 

(2) OIG. In addition to, or in place of 

any intermediate sanctions imposed by 

CMS, the OIG, in accordance with part 

1003 of Chapter V of this title, may im-

pose civil money penalties for the fol-

lowing: 

(i) Violations listed at 422.752(a). 

(ii) Determinations made under 

§ 422.510(a)(4)(i). 

(d) Special rule for non-compliant dual 

eligible special needs plans. Notwith-

standing any other provision of this 

section, CMS must impose during plan 

years 2021 through 2025 intermediate 

sanctions specified at § 422.750(a) on an 

MA organization with a contract to op-

erate a dual eligible special needs plan 

if CMS determines that the dual eligi-

ble special needs plan fails to comply 

with at least one of the criteria for the 

integration of Medicare and Medicaid 

benefits provided in the definition of a 

dual eligible special needs plan at 

§ 422.2. If CMS imposes such an inter-

mediate sanction, the MA organization 

must submit to CMS a corrective ac-

tion plan in a form, manner, and time-

frame established by CMS. The proce-

dures outlined in § 422.756 apply to the 
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imposition of the intermediate sanc-
tion under this provision. 

[63 FR 35115, June 26, 1998; 63 FR 52614, Oct. 
1, 1998, as amended at 69 FR 78338, Dec. 30, 
2004; 70 FR 4741, Jan. 28, 2005; 70 FR 52027, 
Sept. 1, 2005; 72 FR 68725, Dec. 5, 2007; 75 FR 
19814, Apr. 15, 2010; 79 FR 29959, May 23, 2014; 
81 FR 80557, Nov. 15, 2016; 83 FR 16734, Apr. 16, 
2018; 84 FR 15839, April 16, 2019] 

§ 422.756 Procedures for imposing in-
termediate sanctions and civil 
money penalties. 

(a) Notice of intermediate sanction and 
opportunity to respond—(1) Notice of in-
tent. Before imposing the intermediate 
sanction, CMS— 

(i) Sends a written notice to the MA 
organization stating the nature and 
basis of the proposed intermediate 
sanction and the MA organization’s 
right to a hearing as specified in para-
graph (b) of this section; and 

(ii) Sends the OIG a copy of the no-
tice. 

(2) Opportunity to respond. CMS al-
lows the MA organization 10 calendar 
days after receipt of the notice to pro-
vide a written rebuttal. CMS considers 
receipt of the notice as the day after 
notice is sent by fax, e-mail, or sub-
mitted for overnight mail. 

(b) Hearing. (1) The MA organization 
may request a hearing before a CMS 
hearing officer. 

(2) A written request must be re-
ceived by the designated CMS office 
within 15 calendar days after the re-
ceipt of the notice. 

(3) A request for a hearing under 
§ 422.660 does not delay the date speci-
fied by CMS when the sanction be-
comes effective. 

(4) The MA organization must follow 
the right to a hearing procedure as 
specified at subpart N of this part.. 

(c) Effective date and duration of sanc-
tions—(1) Effective date. The effective 
date of the sanction is the date speci-
fied by CMS in the notice. 

(2) Exception. If CMS determines that 
the MA organization’s conduct poses a 
serious threat to an enrollee’s health 
and safety, CMS may make the sanc-
tion effective on an earlier date that 
CMS specifies. 

(3) Duration of sanction. The sanction 
remains in effect until CMS is satisfied 
that the deficiencies that are the basis 
for the sanction determination have 

been corrected and are not likely to 
recur. 

(i) CMS may require that the MA or-
ganization hire an independent auditor 
to provide CMS with additional infor-
mation to determine if the deficiencies 
that are the basis for the sanction de-
termination have been corrected and 
are not likely to recur. The inde-
pendent auditor must work in accord-
ance with CMS specifications and must 
be willing to attest that a complete 
and full independent review has been 
performed. 

(ii) In instances where intermediate 
sanctions have been imposed, CMS may 
require an MA organization to market 
or to accept enrollments or both for a 
limited period of time in order to assist 
CMS in making a determination as to 
whether the deficiencies that are the 
bases for the intermediate sanctions 
have been corrected and are not likely 
to recur. 

(A) If, following this time period, 
CMS determines the deficiencies have 
not been corrected or are likely to 
recur, the intermediate sanctions will 
remain in effect until such time that 
CMS is assured the deficiencies have 
been corrected and are not likely to 
recur. 

(B) The MA organization does not 
have a right to a hearing under 
§ 422.660(a)(4) of this part to challenge 
CMS’ determination to keep the inter-
mediate sanctions in effect. 

(C) During the limited time period, 
sanctioned sponsoring organizations of-
fering Part D plans under the bench-
mark that would normally participate 
in the annual and monthly auto enroll-
ment process for enrollees receiving 
the low income subsidy will not be al-
lowed to receive or process these types 
of enrollments. 

(d) Non-renewal or termination by CMS. 
In addition to or as an alternative to 
the sanctions described in § 422.750, 
CMS may— 

(1) Decline to authorize the renewal 
of an organization’s contract in accord-
ance with § 422.506(b); or 

(2) Terminate the contract in accord-
ance with § 422.510. 

(e) Notice to impose civil money pen-
alties—(1) CMS notice to OIG. If CMS de-
termines that an MA organization has 
failed to comply with a requirement as 
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described in 422.752, CMS notifies the 
OIG of this determination. OIG may 
impose a civil money penalty upon an 
MA organization as specified at 
422.752(c)(2). 

(2) CMS notice of civil money penalties 
to MA organizations. If CMS makes a 
determination to impose a CMP as de-
scribed in 422.752(c)(1), CMS will send a 
written notice of the Agency’s decision 
to impose a civil money penalty to in-
clude— 

(i) A description of the basis for the 
determination. 

(ii) The basis for the penalty. 
(iii) The amount of the penalty. 
(iv) The date the penalty is due. 
(v) The MA organization’s right to a 

hearing under subpart T of this part. 
(vi) Information about where to file 

the request for hearing. 

[63 FR 35113, June 26, 1998, as amended at 68 
FR 50859, Aug. 22, 2003; 70 FR 4741, Jan. 28, 
2005; 72 FR 68725, Dec. 5, 2007; 73 FR 55764, 
Sept. 26, 2008; 75 FR 19814, Apr. 15, 2010; 79 FR 
29959, May 23, 2014] 

§ 422.758 Collection of civil money pen-
alties imposed by CMS. 

(a) When an MA organization does 
not request a hearing, CMS initiates 
collection of the civil money penalty 
following the expiration of the time-
frame for requesting an ALJ hearing as 
specified in subpart T of this part. 

(b) If an MA organization requests a 
hearing and CMS’ decision to impose a 
civil money penalty is upheld, CMS 
may initiate collection of the civil 
money penalty once the administrative 
decision is final. 

[72 FR 68726, Dec. 5, 2007] 

§ 422.760 Determinations regarding 
the amount of civil money penalties 
and assessment imposed by CMS. 

(a) Determining the appropriate amount 
of any penalty. In determining the 
amount of penalty imposed under 
422.752(c)(1), CMS will consider as ap-
propriate: 

(1) The nature of the conduct; 
(2) The degree of culpability of the 

MA organization; 
(3) The adverse effect to enrollees 

which resulted or could have resulted 
from the conduct of MA organization; 

(4) The financial condition of the MA 
organization; 

(5) The history of prior offenses by 
the MA organization or principals of 
the MA organization; and, 

(6) Such other matters as justice may 
require. 

(b) Amount of penalty imposed by CMS. 
CMS may impose civil money penalties 
in the following amounts: 

(1) If the deficiency on which the de-
termination is based has directly ad-
versely affected (or has the substantial 
likelihood of adversely affecting) one 
or more MA enrollees—up to $25,000 as 
adjusted annually under 45 CFR part 
102 for each determination. 

(2) If the deficiency on which the de-
termination is based has directly ad-
versely affected (or has the substantial 
likelihood of adversely affecting) one 
or more MA enrollees, CMS may cal-
culate a CMP of up to $25,000 as ad-
justed annually under 45 CFR part 102 
for each MA enrollee directly adversely 
affected (or with the substantial likeli-
hood of being adversely affected) by a 
deficiency. 

(3) CMS calculates the minimum pen-
alty amounts under paragraphs (b)(1) 
and (2) of this section using the fol-
lowing criteria: 

(i) Definitions for calculating penalty 
amounts—(A) Per determination. The 
penalty amounts calculated under 
paragraph (b)(1) of this section. 

(B) Per enrollee. The penalty amounts 
calculated under paragraph (b)(2) of 
this section. 

(C) Standard minimum penalty. The 
per enrollee or per determination pen-
alty amount that is dependent on the 
type of adverse impact that occurred. 

(D) Aggravating factor(s). Specific pen-
alty amounts that may increase the 
per enrollee or per determination 
standard minimum penalty and are de-
termined based on criteria under para-
graph (a) of this section. 

(E) Cost-of-living multiplier. The per-
cent change between each year’s pub-
lished October consumer price index 
for all urban consumers (United States 
city average), which is released by The 
Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) annually. 

(ii) Calculation of minimum penalty 
amounts. (A) Per determination and per 
enrollee minimum penalty amounts 
are increased by multiplying the cur-
rent standard minimum penalty and 
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aggravating factor amounts by the 
cost-of-living multiplier. 

(B) The minimum penalty and aggra-
vating factor amounts is updated no 
more often than every 3 years. 

(C) CMS tracks the calculation and 
accrual of the standard minimum pen-
alty and aggravating factor amounts 
and announces them on an annual 
basis. 

(4) For each week that a deficiency 
remains uncorrected after the week in 
which the MA organization receives 
CMS’ notice of the determination—up 
to $10,000 as adjusted annually under 45 
CFR part 102. 

(5) If CMS makes a determination 
that a MA organization has terminated 
its contract other than in a manner de-
scribed under 422.512 and that the MA 
organization has therefore failed to 
substantially carry out the terms of 
the contract—$250 as adjusted annually 
under 45 CFR part 102 per Medicare en-
rollee from the terminated MA plan or 
plans at the time the MA organization 
terminated its contract, or $100,000 as 
adjusted annually under 45 CFR part 
102, whichever is greater. 

(c) Amount of penalty imposed by CMS 
or OIG. CMS or the OIG may impose 
civil money penalties in the following 
amounts for a determination made 
under § 422.752(a): 

(1) Civil money penalties of not more 
than $25,000 as adjusted annually under 
45 CFR part 102 for each determination 
made. 

(2) With respect to a determination 
made under § 422.752(a)(4) or (a)(5)(i), 
not more than $100,000 as adjusted an-
nually under 45 CFR part 102 foreach 
such determination, except with re-
spect to a determination made under 
§ 422.752(a)(5), an assessment of not 
more than the amount claimed by such 
plan or MA organization based upon 
the misrepresentation or falsified in-
formation involved. 

(3) Plus with respect to a determina-
tion made under § 422.752(a)(2), double 
the excess amount charged in violation 
of such paragraph (and the excess 
amount charged must be deducted from 
the penalty and returned to the indi-
vidual concerned). 

(4) Plus with respect to a determina-
tion made under § 422.752(a)(4), $15,000 
as adjusted annually under 45 CFR part 

102 for each individual not enrolled as a 
result of the practice involved. 

[72 FR 68726, Dec. 5, 2007, as amended at 74 

FR 1542, Jan. 12, 2009; 79 FR 29960, May 23, 

2014; 81 FR 61562, Sept. 8, 2016; 86 FR 6103, 

Jan. 19, 2021; 86 FR 29528, June 2, 2021] 

§ 422.762 Settlement of penalties. 

For civil money penalties imposed by 
CMS, CMS may settle civil money pen-
alty cases at any time before a final de-
cision is rendered. 

[72 FR 68726, Dec. 5, 2007] 

§ 422.764 Other applicable provisions. 

The provisions of section 1128A of the 
Act (except subsections (a) and (b)) 
apply to civil money penalties under 
this subpart to the same extent that 
they apply to a civil money penalty or 
procedure under section 1128A of the 
Act. 

[63 FR 35115, June 26, 1998. Redesignated at 72 

FR 68726, Dec. 5, 2007] 

Subparts P–S [Reserved] 

Subpart T—Appeal procedures for 
Civil Money Penalties 

SOURCE: 72 FR 68726, Dec. 5, 2007, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 422.1000 Basis and scope. 

(a) Statutory basis. (1) Section 
1128A(c)(2) of the Act provides that the 
Secretary may not collect a civil 
money penalty until the affected party 
has had notice and opportunity for a 
hearing. 

(2) Section 1857(g) of the Act provides 
that, for MA organizations out of com-
pliance with the requirements in part 
422 specified remedies may be imposed 
instead of, or in addition to, termi-
nation of the MA organization’s con-
tract. Section 1857(g)(4) of the Act 
makes certain provisions of section 
1128A of the Act applicable to civil 
money penalties imposed on MA orga-
nizations. 

(b) [Reserved] 

§ 422.1002 Definitions. 

As used in this subpart— 
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